ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

STD J. WHITE

AUG 12 1996

CLERK GOLD OVERT

ARTHUR L. BROWN,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 88,468

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Lynn A. Williams Attorney At Law Fla. Bar. No. 195484 902-A N. Gadsden Street Tallahassee, Florida 32303 904-224-2146

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Arthur L. Brown, was the defendant in the trial court, the appellee in the First District Court of Appeal, and will be referred to as Petitioner or Brown. Respondent, the State of Florida, will be referred to as the State.

Petitioner seeks review based on a certification of conflict by the First District Court of Appeal in its decision in State of Florida vs. Arthur L. Brown, DCA Case No. 95-02755. This decision is contained in the appendix to this brief.

References to the record and transcript will be by "R" and "T" respectively followed by the appropriate page number. References to the appendix to this brief are marked "A".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Brown originally plead guilty to the original charges and, pursuant to a plea agreement, was sentenced on January 18, 1994 to community control (R 3). The original sentence was an agreed upon downward departure from the guidelines scoresheet (T 41).

Brown was subsequently charged with violation of community control and the trial judge found Brown to be in violation (R 4; T 39).

During the sentencing portion of the violation of community control hearing, there was the following colloquy:

The Court: Was this initial disposition a plea agreement?

Ms. Suber [defense attorney]: The initial disposition, the two years of community control?

The Court: Yes.

Ms. Suber [defense attorney]: I believe that it was a plea agreement. ...

Mr. Renuart [prosecutor]: Our file reflects that there was a plea agreement and the defendant received 133 days credit time and two years community control, and was adjudicated on all counts (R 41).

The state requested that for the violation of community control, that Brown be sentenced to a guideline sentence based on the original guideline scoresheet, with a permitted range of five and one-half to twelve years in prison, with a one cell increase making the permitted range seven to seventeen years (T 40; R 3).

The trial judge sentenced appellant to one year of imprisonment to be followed by one year of probation (R 7, 9, 11).

The state appealed the trial judge's sentence to the First District Court of Appeal, arguing that the sentence was a downward departure entered without written reasons. (R 14).

The First District Court of Appeal agreed with the state, and reversed appellant's sentence, stating, "We reverse the downward departure sentence imposed without written reasons. On remand, the trial court is instructed to impose a guidelines sentence." (A). In so doing, The First District Court of Appeal certified conflict with its decision in the case at bar and the decisions in State v. Hogan, 611 So.2d 78, (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), Schiffer v. State, 617 So. 2d 357 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), and State, 634 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (A).

Petitioner filed a timely notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The defendant was sentenced to an agreed upon downward departure sentence on January 18, 1994 of two years community control.

Defendant argues in this brief that no reasons for downward departure need be given upon revocation of probation or community control where the initial placement on probation or community control was a downward departure disposition agreed to by the state, and that therefore the sentence imposed by the judge in this case is legal and should be upheld.

The law on this issue is presently in conflict in the District Court of Appeal's of this state and the issue is currently pending in this Court in at least two cases that undersigned counsel is aware of. State v. Delgadillo, 659 So.2d 1264 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), rev. pending, Fla. S.Ct. Case No. 86,558; State v. Franquiz, 654 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), rev. pending, Fla. S. Ct. Case No. 85,960.

While State v. Roman, 634 So.2d 291 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) appears to support the state's position in this matter, the petitioner will show in this brief why the holding in Roman should be revisited and the holdings of the Fourth and Fifth District Court of Appeals adopted. See State v. Hogan, 611 So.2d 78 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); State v. Devine, 512 So.2d 1163 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. denied, 519 So.2d 988 (Fla. 1987); State v. Glover, 634

So.2d 247 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994); <u>Schiffer v. State</u>, 617 So.2d 357 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993).

The sentence in this case should be upheld. If this relief in not granted, the case should be remanded for a de novo sentencing hearing.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT WRITTEN REASONS ARE REQUIRED TO DEPART BELOW THE GUIDELINES ON A VIOLATION OF COMMUNITY CONTROL WHERE THE STATE HAD AGREED TO A DOWNWARD DEPARTURE AT THE ORIGINAL SENTENCING

The original sentence imposed in this case on January 18, 1994 was a downward departure based upon an agreed upon plea agreement between the state and the defense, and was accepted by the trial court. This is not contested and is supported by the transcript (T 41).

At a subsequent hearing on a violation of community control, the trial judge relied on this prior agreed upon departure in sentencing the petitioner to a sentence for violation of community control, which would have constituted a downward departure had the petitioner originally been sentenced within the guidelines.

The state's appeal to the First District Court of Appeal was granted and the case reversed and remanded for a guideline sentence.

Petitioner submits the lower appellate court erred.

Petitioner argues in this brief that no reasons for downward departure need be given upon revocation of probation or community control where the initial placement on probation or community

control was a downward departure disposition agreed to by the state, and that therefore the sentence imposed by the judge in this case is legal and should be upheld.

The law on this issue is presently in conflict in the District Court of Appeals of this state and the issue is currently pending in this Court in at least two cases that undersigned counsel is aware of. State v. Delgadillo, 659 So.2d 1264 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), rev. pending, Fla. S.Ct. Case No. 86,558 (written reasons required); State v. Franquiz, 654 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), rev. pending, Fla. S. Ct. Case No. 85,960 (written reasons required -- prior departure not sufficient).

The Fourth and Fifth District Courts of Appeal have ruled that a prior agreed upon departure from a guideline sentence is grounds for subsequent departure without written reasons.

In Hogan, 611 So.2d 78 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) the Fourth
District Court of Appeal specifically found that the caselaw
requiring written reasons for departure was not applicable "with
respect to a downward departure following a violation of
probation, where the initial sentence validly departed downward."

Id. at 79. The appellate court stated "that the state's prior
stipulation to a downward departure is a valid ground for a
subsequent sentence below the guidelines." Id. at 79. The Court
further noted that "section 948.06(1), Fla. Stat. (1991)
authorizes a trial court, in sentencing following a violation of

probation, to impose 'any sentence which it might originally have imposed before placing the probation on probation'..." Id. at 79.

As additional authority defendant notes that in <u>State v.</u>

<u>Glover</u>, 634 So.2d 247 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) the appellate court accepted the reasoning of <u>Hogan</u> in a case involving community control.

In <u>Schiffer v. State</u>, 617 So.2d 357 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) the Court found that no written reasons were required for a downward departure and that the prior plea agreement provided the reason to support a departure.

Hogan, Glover, and Schiffer reflect the better policy in the class of cases before this Court. The fact that the state and the defense had agreed upon a plea which is below the guidelines, and that the trial judge had accepted it, is a reflection of the fact that all parties found, for reasons that may not be apparent in the record, that under the facts of the case a guideline sentence was inappropriate and not in the best interest of the public. Allowing the trial judge to rely on the agreed upon downward departure, when these cases come before the judge again on a violation of probation or community control, facilitates a just and appropriate result based on all the factors in the case. It also furthers the well-established principle that probation (and by analogy community control), are in the first instance a matter of grace with the trial court and is subject to the

exercise of a liberal measure of discretion. McCarthren v. State, 635 So.2d 1005 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994); Bently v. State, 411 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 5th DCA) (en banc), rev. denied, 419 So.2d 1195 (Fla. 1985).

In denying petitioner relief in the case at bar, the First District Court of Appeal relied on State v.Roman, 634 So.2d 291 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). In Roman, the accused originally was sentenced to an agreed upon downward departure sentence of community control. This Court reversed a subsequent downward departure sentence imposed after the community control was revoked, stating, "However, as in State v. Nickerson, 541 So.2d 725 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), when imposing sentence after revoking community control, the court below did not provide a contemporaneous, written reason for a downward departure from the sentencing guidelines." Roman, 634 So.2d at 292.

The defendant respectfully submits that the lower appellate court's apprehension and consequent reliance on the ruling in Nickerson was in error. In Nickerson, the trial court's departure was based in part on the fact that an agreed upon downward departure sentence had originally been imposed. The First District Court of Appeal, quoting the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in Devine with approval, noted that "there is no reason why a trial court may not consider during resentencing the State's prior agreement..." as grounds to

mitigate. <u>Nickerson</u>, at 727. The First District Court of Appeal chose to reverse in <u>Nickerson</u> and remand to the trial court only because the Court could not "determine from the wording of the trial court's reasons for departure whether the court was in fact considering the State's prior agreement as a reason to depart or felt constrained by it". <u>Id</u>. at 727.

In other words, on remand the trial judge in <u>Nickerson</u> was free to impose a guideline sentence or to re-impose the previous sentence which was a downward departure. The Court did not rule a downward departure would not be legal based on the prior departure.

If this Court finds that an original departure is an insufficient reason or that written reasons are required, petitioner respectfully submits it would be fundamentally unfair and would not serve any public policy to affirm without remanding to the trial court for a de novo resentencing. The trial judge was under the impression that no written reasons were required. This is supported by the record, and the First District Appeal decision in Nickerson, as well as decisions in other District Courts of Appeal. Further, if the trial judge's action violated the law, resulting in a deprivation of appellant's liberty not because a harsher sentence (i.e., imprisonment for several years) serves society or justice, but because of a technical matter, petitioner's right to due process of law is nullified.

Based on the foregoing argument and citation of authority, and to effectuate appellee's right to due process of law as guaranteed by Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution and Amendment XIV of the United States Constitution, the First District Court of Appeal's decision should be vacated, and the trial judge's sentence in this case should be upheld. If this relief in not granted, this Court should grant petitioner a resentencing.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and citation of authority, and to effectuate appellee's right to due process of law as guaranteed by Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution and Amendment XIV of the United States Constitution, the First District Court of Appeal's decision should be vacated, and the trial judge's sentence in this case should be upheld. If this relief in not granted, this Court should grant petitioner a resentencing.