ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 9 1996

CLERK COURT

ARTHUR L. BROWN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 88,468

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referred to as Respondent or the State. Petitioner, ARTHUR L. BROWN, the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referred to as Petitioner or by his proper name.

The symbol "R" will refer to the record on appeal; the symbol "T" will refer to the trial transcripts; the symbol "IB" will refer to the initial brief of the Petitioner. Each symbol will be followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. All double underlined emphasis is supplied.

Two cases, State v. Delgadillo, 659 So. 2d 1264 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), rev. granted, 668 So. 2d 603 (Fla. February 1, 1996) (No. 86,558) and State v. Franquiz, 654 So. 2d 1068 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), rev. granted, 668 So. 2d 603 (Fla. February 1, 1996) (No. 85,960), containing this same issue are currently pending in this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State agrees with Petitioner's statement of the case and facts with the following clarification:

1. While the State agreed to the original departure sentence, the State did not agree to downward departure after petitioner violated his community control. The State contemporaneously objected to the trial court's downward departure. (T. 42).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State originally agreed to a downward departure sentence of community control instead of the potential twelve year guidelines sentence. Petitioner's subsequent violation of community control denied the State the benefit of its bargain under the plea agreement and nullified the agreement. It is irrational and contrary to law to expect or to require the State to agree to another departure downward departure after the defendant violates community control and the original plea agreement. The trial court erred, as a matter of law, by not providing written reasons for the departure sentence.

The First District Court's decision below and that of the Third District in State v. Zlockower, 650 So. 2d 692 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), rev. dismissed, 659 So. 2d 1091 (Fla. 1995), which required the trial court to provide written departure reasons in this situation, should be approved and the decisions of the Fourth District in State v. Hogan, 611 So. 2d 78 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), and Schiffer v. State, 617 So. 2d 357 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) and the Fifth District in State v. Glover, 634 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), which do not require written reasons disapproved.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY FAILING TO PROVIDE WRITTEN REASONS FOR THE DOWNWARD DEPARTURE SENTENCE IMPOSED FOLLOWING PETITIONER'S VIOLATION OF COMMUNITY CONTROL?

Petitioner argues that the trial court was not required to provide written reasons supporting a departure sentence following the revocation of petitioner's community control because the State had agreed to a departure sentence when petitioner was initially placed on community control. The State respectfully disagrees. Although the State had agreed to the prior departure, the State did not agree to the second departure. It is irrational to expect the State to agree to a second downward departure when the defendant violates his community control or probation. The State no longer agreed to the departure sentence after the petitioner violated his community control. Instead, the State sought a guidelines sentence following the violation. Therefore, the previous departure reason, i.e., that both parties agreed to the sentence, no longer existed. Thus, the trial court could not depart based on an agreed upon sentence when the sentence was not agreed to by the State. Moreover, because petitioner breached the agreement by violating his community control, the State is not and should not be bound by that agreement. Therefore, the trial court committed reversible

error by failing to provide written departure reasons to support its departure sentence, and the First District properly vacated that sentence and remanded the case for resentencing within the guidelines.

Petitioner was originally charged in a five count information. (R. 1-2). Pursuant to the negotiated plea agreement, petitioner pled guilty to three counts. State v. Brown, 675 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). Petitioner's scoresheet calculations reflected a guidelines permitted range of five and a half years to twelve years, and a recommended range of eight years. However, the trial court, following the terms of the plea agreement, placed petitioner on two years' community control. This original departure sentence was agreed to by the State. Petitioner then violated his community control. At the sentencing hearing, the State urged that petitioner be sentenced within the guidelines. scoresheet, which now included a one-cell enhancement due to his violation, called for a permitted range of seven to seventeen The trial court, without any explanation, imposed a downward departure of one year in prison to be followed by one year of probation. The State objected to the sentence as "being

¹ A negotiated plea constitutes a valid reason for departure. <u>Ouarterman v. State</u>, 527 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1988).

illegal, below the guidelines sentence." (T. 42). The trial court failed to support this significant downward departure with written reasons. The State appealed the trial court's departure to the First District Court of Appeals.

First District reversed the downward departure instructed the trial court on remand to impose a quidelines The First District reasoned that the plain mandate of sentence. the relevant statute and the relevant rule of criminal procedure required that any departure sentence be supported by written reasons. (emphasis in original). The First District certified conflict between its decision in this case and the Fourth District's decision in State v. Hogan, 611 So. 2d 78 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), and Schiffer v. State, 617 So. 2d 357 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993); and the Fifth District's decision in State v. Glover, 634 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). This issue is currently pending in this Court. Franquiz v. State, 654 So. 2d 1068 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), rev. granted, 668 So. 2d 603 (Fla. February 1, 1996) (No. 85,960); Delgadillo v. State, 659 So. 2d 1264 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), rev. granted, 668 So. 2d 603 (Fla. February 1, 1996) (No. 86,558).

The statutes, the Rules of Criminal Procedure, and the relevant case law all require that any sentence outside the permitted guidelines range be accompanied by written reasons. The

sentencing guidelines require a trial court to provide written reasons for departing from the guidelines. Section 921.001(6), Fla. STAT. (1993)² provides:

The sentencing guidelines shall provide that any sentence imposed outside the range recommended by the guidelines be explained in writing by the trial court judge.

Also, Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(11)(1993) states in part:

Departures from the recommended or permitted guideline sentence should be avoided unless there are circumstances or factors that reasonably justify aggravating or mitigating the sentence. Any sentence outside the permitted range must be accompanied by a written statement delineating the reasons for the departure.

A State prison sentence which varies upward or downward from the recommended guideline prison sentence by more than 25 percent is a departure sentence and must be accompanied by a written statement delineating the reasons for the departure, filed within 15 days after the date of sentencing. A written transcription of orally stated reasons for the departure is permissible if it is filed by the court within 15 days after the date of sentencing.

However, the fifteen day allowance applies to crimes committed on or after January 1, 1994. State v. Colbert, 660 So. 2d 701, 702 n.1 (Fla. 1995). Petitioner's crimes were committed in 1993. (R. 1). Even the fifteen day allowance would not avail the trial court in this case because the court failed to enter written reasons at anytime.

Section 921.0016(1)(c) of Florida Statutes now provides:

Finally, this Court has held that written departure reasons must be contemporaneously entered at the time of sentencing. Ree v. State, 565 So. 2d 1329 (Fla. 1990), reaffirmed in, State v. Colbert, 660 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1995). The rule is quite clear: a trial court which departs from the sentencing guidelines must provide contemporaneous written reasons for doing so.

All five district courts have reached this issue. State v. Zlockower, 650 So. 2d 692 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), rev. denied, 659 So. 2d 1091 (Fla. 1995). The First District, the Second District, and the Third District all require a trial court to provide written reasons for a downward departure following the revocation of probation or community control. State v. Roman, 634 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); State v. McMahon, 605 So. 2d 544, 545 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Zlockower, supra. However, the Fourth and Fifth Districts view the State's prior agreement to a downward departure to be a valid ground for departure, notwithstanding the defendant's subsequent violation. Hogan, supra; Glover, supra.

Petitioner urges this Court to adopt the reasoning of the Fourth and Fifth District courts on this issue³. But the reasoning of the

Petitioner further argues that the First District misapprehended its prior holding in <u>State v. Nickerson</u>, 541 So. 2d 725 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), in both <u>Roman</u>, supra, and in the instant case. Thus, according to petitioner, two panels of the First

District Courts is neither sound, nor in accord with the sentencing guidelines. In State v. Glover, 634 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), the Fifth District stated that allowing a downward departure is sound public policy because it gives trial judges greater flexibility. Id at 248. This "flexibility" is not in accord with the sentencing guidelines. The sentencing guidelines require that the sentence imposed, after revocation of probation, be in accordance with the guidelines and within the guidelines range. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701(14)(1993)⁴. According to the guidelines, petitioner should have received a guidelines sentence. The "flexibility" mentioned in Glover allows the trial court to undermine the sentencing guidelines' goal of uniformity.

Additionally, it is a fiction to allow the trial court to rely on a departure reason which no longer exists⁵. For example, in

District misconstrued the case. This argument is properly made in a motion for rehearing en banc in the District Court, but it is not proper for this court to resolve intradistrict conflicts. ART. V. (b)(3), FLA. CONST. Thus, the State will not address this argument.

⁴ Petitioner committed his offense in 1993.

⁵ It should be noted that defendants are only resentenced for additional violations of the law, e.g., violations of community control or probation. Thus, when a criminal defendant initially agrees to an upward departure in return for the state dropping or reducing the charges, the defendant has received the full benefit of the plea agreement. Should the defendant subsequently violate either community control or probation, the State is entitled to the benefit of its initial plea agreement, including the upward

this case, the State did not agree to the departure following the revocation; indeed, the State strenuously objected. This fiction provides a windfall to the defendant, for there is little or no penalty for a violation of probation. This leaves society without recourse against those who violate the terms of their probation.

Bilyou v. State, 404 So. 2d 744, 745 (Fla. 1981) (quoting Mulder v. State 356 So. 2d 870, 871 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978)).

This Court has held that the State is not and should not be bound by the punishment outlined in the plea agreement if the defendant violates his probation. Bilyou v. State, 404 So. 2d 744 (Fla. 1981). The plea agreement at issue in Bilyou provided for a cap of ten years' probation. The trial court, following the terms of the plea agreement, placed Bilyou on eight years' probation. However, when Bilyou violated his probation, the trial court incarcerated him for fifteen years. Bilyou argued that the incarceration was illegal because it exceeded the punishment outlined in the plea agreement. This Court rejected this argument, holding that a probationer who violates his probation may be sentenced in excess of the plea agreement. Id at 746. In such a

departure. Thus, the defendant is subject to an upward departure on resentencing of an additional one cell from the original sentence. The trial court, in its departure order, would cite the original plea agreement as the reason for the upward departure.

case, the State is not limited by the terms of the plea agreement but may seek, following revocation, any punishment within the statutory maximum. 6 The Bilyou Court concluded that as long as the original sentence was within the terms of the plea agreement, the State had fulfilled its part of the agreement and was no longer bound by the original agreement following revocation. This Court stated: "Petitioner violated the agreement reached and should not now be allowed to bind the state to that bargain". Id. at 745. Contrary to the holding in <u>Bilyou</u>, petitioner seeks to permanently bind the State to a downward departure regardless of his subsequent The State, in this case, fulfilled its part of the conduct. bargain by agreeing to the original departure sentence. The State should not be bound to the departure sentence in this case, just as the State was not bound to the original agreed upon punishment in Bilyou, supra.

This Court recently held that no written reasons are required to support a departure sentence which is <u>agreed</u> to by the parties.

State v. Williams, 667 So. 2d 191 (Fla. 1996). Williams was

Bilyou was a pre-guidelines case. Hence, the court referred to a statutory maximum, rather than a guidelines sentence. But given that guidelines sentences tend to be significantly under the statutory maximum, the rationale of allowing the State to seek guidelines sentencing, following a violation of community control or probation, is even more compelling.

charged in a three count information. Pursuant to the plea agreement, the State dropped one count and Williams pled guilty. The trial court, following the terms of the plea agreement, sentenced Williams to two years' community control. Both the State and Williams thought that the sentence was an upward departure. The trial court did not provide written reasons for the "departure" sentence. On appeal, the Second District remanded for resentencing based on the failure of the trial court to provide written reasons. This Court, based on conflict with its prior holding, quashed the Second District's decision. This Court held that a departure sentence, imposed pursuant to a valid plea agreement, does not need written reasons to justify the departure. Id. at 193. The fact of the agreement is "spread out in the record for all the world to see fully justifies such a departure." Id. at 193, quoting Casmay v. State, 569 So. 2d 1351, 1353 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). However, for the sake of clarity, this Court recommended the trial court state, in writing, that the plea agreement is the reason for departure. Id. However, in this case, the State did not agree to the departure following the revocation of petitioner's community

⁷ This Court noted that the sentence was not in fact a departure. <u>Id</u>. at 194, n.4. The sentencing guidelines called for any non-state prison sanction and two years' community control is a non-state prison sanction.

The State strenuously objected to the trial court's control. departure. There was no agreement "spread out in the record for all the world to see" or to justify the departure. Moreover, this Court stated in Williams that no written reasons are required where the terms of the plea agreement are apparent on the face of the record. As the dissent in Glover highlights, because no written reasons are given, the appellate courts must guess that the trial (Harris dissenting). This guesswork is also necessary in this The trial court in this case gave no departure reasons, either orally or in writing, following its revocation of petitioner's community control. Therefore, this Court must infer that the prior agreement was the departure reason, even though it was never explicitly stated as the reason by the trial court and is certainly not clear from the face of the record. Thus, according to the rationale of Williams, supra, the trial court needed to provide written reasons in the absence of an agreement.

Furthermore, despite petitioner's request for a *de novo* sentencing hearing, the First District properly instructed the trial court to impose a guidelines sentence on remand. The trial court was aware that the sentence it imposed constituted a downward

departure. The prosecutor contemporaneously objected to the downward departure saying:

[Prosecutor]: Your Honor, the state objects to the sentence as being illegal, below the guideline sentence.

The trial court's sole response to the objection was:

[The Court]: Is there anything further?

Thus, the trial court was aware that it was imposing a departure sentence. If a trial court is aware at the time of sentencing that its sentence is a departure, on remand the trial court must impose a guideline sentence. Pope v. State, 561 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 1990); Whipple v. State, 596 So. 2d 669 (Fla. 1992). Petitioner nevertheless claims that the trial court was under the "impression" that no written reasons were required because other district courts did not require written reasons. IB at 10. However, the First District clearly required written departure reasons in this situation. Roman, supra. A trial court is required to follow the decisions of the district court in which it is located and is not free to follow the decisions of other district courts. Pardo v. State, 596 So. 2d 665 (Fla. 1992). Therefore, the First District properly instructed the trial court to impose a guidelines sentence on remand.

In conclusion, the trial court erred by failing to provide written departure reasons when it imposed a downward departure sentence following its revocation of petitioner's community control. This Court should follow its prior holdings in Bilyou, supra, and Williams, supra, and not permit the trial court to depart based on a departure reason which no longer exists. This Court should require the trial court to enter valid, written reasons to justify a departure sentence as required by the statute, the rules of criminal procedure and this Court's precedent. A breached plea agreement is not a valid departure reason. This Court should approve the First District's decision in this case.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully submits the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in State v. Brown, 675 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) should be approved. The trial court's downward departure sentence should be reversed for failure to provide currently valid departure reasons in writing and this case should be remanded to the trial court with instruction to impose a guidelines sentence.